
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 

AGENDA 

August 28, 2012 



 

 

CITY OF OAK HARBOR       AGENDA 
PLANNING COMMISSION August 28, 2012 
REGULAR MEETING   7:30 P.M. 
CITY HALL – COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
 
 
ROLL CALL: NEIL      JENSEN    FAKKEMA      
 

WASINGER       OLIVER   
    
   WALLIN    JOHNSON-PFEIFFER    
 
  

1. Approval of Minutes – July 24, 2012 and August 14, 2012 
 

2. Public Comment – Planning Commission will accept public comment for items not 
otherwise on the agenda for the first 15 minutes of the Planning Commission meeting.  
 

3. FAIRWAY POINT PRD MODIFICATION TO CONSIDER ADU'S  – Public Hearing 
The Planning Commission will hold a public hearing on a proposal to add accessory 
dwelling units to the basements of homes for up to six remaining lots to be developed 
within Division 4 of Fairway Point PRD.  The Fairway Point subdivision is a planned 
residential development (PRD) which means that the development of the subdivision is 
tied to specific approved plans. A modification to these specific plans requires the 
Planning Commission to conduct a public hearing and make a recommendation to the 
City Council. 

 
4. SHORELINE MASTER PROGRAM (SMP) UPDATE – Public Meeting 

The City of Oak Harbor is required by the State of Washington to update its Shoreline 
Master Program (SMP). The Planning Commission will continue its discussion of the 
Draft SMP document focusing on Chapter 5 “Shoreline Modification Provisions.” Topics 
covered in this discussion will include, stabilization (including bulkheads), piers, docks, 
floats, and mooring balls and buoys. This is a discussion item and no action or 
recommendation will be made at this time. 

 
5. 2012 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AMENDMENT DISCUSSION– Public Meeting 

2018.  The Capital Improvements Plan is updated every year with the annual 
Comprehensive Plan Amendments.  The Capital Improvements Plan identifies the City’s 
capital needs for the next six years.  The Planning Commission will be updated on the 
changes to the plan. 

2



MINUTES 

 

July 24, 2012 

& 

August 14, 2012 

3



 

Planning Commission 
July 24, 2012 
Page 1 of 11 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
CITY HALL – COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
July 24, 2012 
 
ROLL CALL:  Present: Bruce Neil, Gerry Oliver, Jeff Wallin and Jill Johnson-Pfeiffer.  
 Absent: Kristi Jensen, Greg Wasinger and Keith Fakkema 

Staff Present:  Development Services Director, Steve Powers; Senior Planners, 
Ethan Spoo and Cac Kamak; Associate Planner, Melissa Sartorius; Project 
Engineer, Arnie Peterschmidt. 

 
Chairman Neil called the meeting to order at 7:30 p.m. 
 
Mr. Neil noted that the agenda item regarding OHMC Chapter 17.24 Sidewalks, Curbs and 
Gutters Installation would be move to another date. 
 
MINUTES: MS. JOHNSON-PFEIFFER MOVED, MR. OLIVER SECONDED, MOTION 

CARRIED TO APPROVE THE MAY 22, 2012 MINUTES AS PRESENTED.  
 
PUBLIC COMMENT: 
No comments. 
 
FAIRWAY POINT PRD MODIFICATION TO CONSIDER ADU’S – Public Hearing 
Mr. Neil opened the public hearing on this item. 
 
Ms. Sartorius reported that this item is a request to modify the Planned Residential 
Development (PRD) plans for Fairway Point Division 4 to add accessory dwelling units to 
homes.  Accessory dwelling units are normally permitted in all single-family zoning districts with 
an administrative permit but since PRD’s are tied to specific approved plans, a modification is 
needed and a public hearing is required. 
 
A PRD is a planned unit development which offers flexibility in neighborhood design.  The PRD 
overlay zone modifies the regulations of the existing zoning district.  Because legal lots of record 
must be created through the subdivision process, the approval process for a PRD subdivision 
often creates several approval documents (ordinances/resolutions) distinguishing the plat from 
the PRD plans.  The modification process must include a public input process for homeowners. 
 
The Oak Harbor Municipal Code (OHMC) defines an accessory dwelling unit (ADU) as "a 
habitable living unit added to, created within or detached from a single-family dwelling that 
provides basic requirements for living, sleeping, eating, cooking and sanitation."  ADU's are 
commonly known as mother-in-law apartments or cottage apartments and are essentially a 
second dwelling unit created on a lot. 
 
The applicant proposes a maximum of six ADU’s to Division 4.  The applicant indicates in the 
narrative that the actual number of ADU's that are to be built will likely be lower than requested. 
As the modification process is somewhat lengthy, the applicant is seeking the maximum number 
of units to provide them with future flexibility. So the modification is to only consider a change to 
the density on the approved plan set. 
 
City staff analyzed transportation concurrency, addressing, solid waste, water meter size, and 
utility billing aspects of the project but had no substantial comments on the modification.  The 

4



 

Planning Commission 
July 24, 2012 
Page 2 of 11 

Development Services Department is tasked with reviewing the proposal for conformity with all 
applicable criteria.  
 
A Notice of Public Hearing was advertised in the Whidbey News Times and combined Notice of 
Application and of Public Hearing was sent to all of the property owners within the subdivision 
and within 300 feet of the subdivision on June 8, 2012.  One comment was received yesterday 
via e-mail regarding concern about the impact on property values (Attachment 1). 
 
Ms. Sartorius concluded that staff has reviewed the PRD modification and has determined it to 
be in conformance with all applicable criteria and standards in the OHMC, the prior approved 
PRD development plans, and the approved resolutions and ordinances.  The approval of a 
modification to the PRD plans for Fairway Point Division 4 will allow the applicant to apply for 
the administrative ADU permits on a house-by-house basis.  
 
Since PRD's are tied specifically to the plans approved for the project and any modifications to 
these plans if approved must also become part of the official record of the subdivision, staff 
recommends that only Sheet 1 of 1 titled ADU Modification to Fairway Point PRD dated June 5, 
2012 be approved with the draft ordinance so that the modification to the PRD is clearly shown.  
 
Ms. Sartorius concluded by recommending that Planning Commission accept public comments 
on the proposed modification, close the public hearing and then recommend approval of the 
draft ordinance amending Ordinance No. 1583 to City Council. 
 
Mr. Neil asked the applicant if he had comments. 
 
Kendal Gentry (14559 Jura Place, Anacortes) introduced himself as the applicant and 
explained that the motivation for requesting the PRD amendment was because of the slow real 
estate market and the need to understand the needs of the customer.  Some of his customers 
have requested accessory dwelling units due to the need for a live-in caregiver.  Landed Gentry 
would like to advertise the homes with the accessory dwelling unit option.  Mr. Gentry noted that 
the ADU’s would not be visible from the street.    
 
Planning Commission Discussion 
Planning Commission asked Mr. Gentry about how ADU’s would affect parking and whether he 
had any comment about land value as a result of adding the ADU’s.  Mr. Gentry said that part of 
the permit process is to demonstrate that there is adequate off-street parking and that ADU’s 
are very tightly governed by the city codes.  Once an applicant applies for an ADU permit they 
sign a covenant which is placed on the property and says the owner of the house will live in one 
of the two units so it is not like creating a duplex. 
 
Planning Commissioner’s asked staff about a scenario of a Navy family that purchases the 
home and transfers in a couple of years and then wants to rent the home out and have a tenant 
in the ADU.  Ms. Sartorius repeated Mr. Gentry’s comment about the requirement for a 
covenant and the requirement for the owner to live in one of the two units.  Mr. Powers added 
that the person that purchases the home has to understand the restrictions and make decisions 
accordingly secondly; in the scenario described they would have to give up the right to have the 
ADU.  There is no prohibition on an individual buying a home moving away and renting that 
home but under our Code there would be a prohibition on that individual renting out the main 
unit and renting out the accessory dwelling unit separately.  The homeowner would lose the 
right to have the accessory dwelling unit and used it only as a single family dwelling. 
 

5



 

Planning Commission 
July 24, 2012 
Page 3 of 11 

Planning Commission asked if there were any concerns because this is a PRD that was 
planned and the people that bought into this residential community had an expectation of a 
certain lifestyle versus another neighborhood.  Ms. Sartorius stated that this public process is 
meant to gather input from the residents in the neighborhood and they have received a number 
of public notices.  The only comment to date is the written comment. 
 
There was discussion about density levels in Fairway Point Divisions 1-3 as compared to 
Division 4 and the reason for that the request is only for Division 4.  Ms. Sartorius explained that 
for Fairway Point Divisions 1-3 the proposed density using a maximum of 29 ADU’s is less than 
the original approved density and therefore does not require an amendment to the PRD 
whereas Fairway Point Division 4 originally was approved for 4.76 dwelling units per acre and 
the proposed density using a maximum of 6 ADU’s is 5.47 dwelling units per acre which is more 
than what was originally approved and therefore requires an amendment to the PRD. 
 
Planning Commissioners asked the following: 
 

 Do the zoning requirements run with the property to the new owner? (Yes). 
 

 How much notice was given to the adjacent property owners? (3-4 notices were sent 
out, a notice of application, the hearing date changed so a revised notice was sent then 
the lack of a quorum require another notice of public hearing for this month). 

 
 Will this allow for a detached ADU? (The applicant is not locked into the basement 

design but will have to go through the ADU administrative permit which staff would 
review to make sure that it meets the criteria in the Oak Harbor Municipal Code). 

 
Mr. Neil opened the hearing for public comment. 
 
Bruce Freeman (2746 SW Fairway Point Drive) stated that he purchased his home based on 
the density that was approved by the City of Oak Harbor.  The proposal would increase density 
and could change the tranquil neighborhood considerably.  Traffic is a big issue with adding an 
entire living unit.  He said he was not against the caregiver unit but when kitchens, bathrooms 
and separate entrance are added it is more of a duplex.  Mr. Freeman asked the following 
questions and Mr. Powers provided the answers: 
 

 Will the residence be owner occupied?  Answer:  Yes, the Code requires that the owner 
of the property occupy one of the units at least six months out of the year. 

 Can the units be rented out to anyone that is not a family member? We know the 
majority of the people are military and when they get sent out on deployment they rent 
the rooms out while they’re gone. How is it going to be enforced?  Answer:  There are 
two ways, since this is a zoning code requirement, violations of the zoning code are a 
code enforcement action that the City can engage in and it is also possible to end up in a 
civil action as well. 

 Could the unit be used as a commercial office?  Answer: No, but you can have a small 
home business. 

 Are there specific lots identified that the ADU’s will be built on?  Answer:  Yes 
 Do the ADU’s have kitchens?  Answer:  General they do. 
 How many on-site parking spaces will be provided?  Answer:  One additional space for 

the additional unit or additional spaces that may be determined by staff. 
 

6



 

Planning Commission 
July 24, 2012 
Page 4 of 11 

Mr. Freeman also suggested mailing the staff reports with the notices.  
 
Commissioner’s asked if it was possible to add to the covenant a limit on the amount of cars 
that the extra dwelling unit is allowed to have.  Mr. Powers explained that a covenant is between 
private property owners and the City is not involved in the enforcement of those conditions of 
covenant or restrictions.  If the City imposes a condition of approval it must be through the 
zoning process, the conditions associated with the plat.  Mr. Powers added that parking can be 
an issue at any point in the community and not necessarily driven by accessory dwelling units.  
It can depend on the neighborhood, lot size, driveway, garage and whether it is a five person 
family or a two person family.  The Code sets out the minimum amount of parking for each 
dwelling unit.  For a single-family house it is two spaces.  For a single-family house with an ADU 
it is at least two plus one.   
 
Mr. Gentry was asked how he would address the parking issue.  Mr. Gentry said that the seller 
provides the garage and parking space but how the buyer chooses to utilize it is outside of the 
seller’s control.  The homeowner’s association would have the responsibility for enforcing the 
rules that were designed for the plat. 
 
Floyd Haney (2777 SW Fairway Point Drive) said he was under the assumption that he was in 
a single-family residential area and expressed concern about the number of people that could 
live in a home with an ADU and was opposed to any change to the PRD.   
 
Richard Porritt (2130 Fairway Lane) asked want the difference was between a phase and a 
division and what the density is of the administratively approved Division 3 area.   
 
Mr. Powers gave an example, of 30 lots in division 1 of a particular project and the developer 
chooses not to develop all 30 lots at one time they might build 10 in the first phase, 10 in the 
second phase and 10 in the third and final phase inside of that division. 
 
Richard Porritt (2130 Fairway Lane) asked if he understood that we were talking about 6 lots 
or more in Division 3 that are being administratively approved.  Mr. Powers explained that the 
density that was approved at the time Divisions 1, 2 and 3 were approved, were approved at a 
higher level than what the actual development plans were utilizing.  So, should Mr. Gentry 
request ADU’s on all available lots they would still be beneath the approved density already.  
The reason this is before the Planning Commission is because the density for Division 4 and the 
development in Division 4 are very close to each other and in order to pursue ADU’s on one or 
more of the remaining 6 lots he needs to request that the density be increased.  Landed Gentry 
is obligated to follow the density which was originally approved. 
 
Since Division 3 in below the density cap it does not require a modification to the PRD.  Mr. 
Gentry has the opportunity to request ADU permits on those lots through the City’s pre-existing 
ADU provisions in the Code which is the administrative process.  It is important to point out that 
there are no requests to date and no information available that says Mr. Gentry will be 
requesting an ADU on each and every lot within Division 3. 
 
Commissioners asked if there would be a public hearing if Mr. Gentry requested and ADU for 
Division 3 through the administrative process.  Mr. Powers said that there would be not public 
hearing and that the ADU Code applies city-wide and is no different for any other neighborhood 
in the community.  Mr. Powers explained that the reason for the ADU code provisions is 
because the Growth Management Act requires that, as we plan for our communities, we need to 

7



 

Planning Commission 
July 24, 2012 
Page 5 of 11 

plan for a range of housing types and acknowledge the fact that there are certain members of 
our community that may need an ADU for the reasons that we have already talked about. 
 
Commissioner’s asked if any of the ADU’s would be pre-built with the hopes of finding a buyer 
or would the developer only build it at the request of the buyer.  Mr. Gentry said that the 
basement will not be finished until the buyer tells us whether they want bedrooms or an ADU 
and if they want an ADU we will apply for the ADU permit. 
 
Commissioner’s asked if Mr. Gentry could build the six bedroom house without going through 
this process.  Mr. Gentry said that is what they are doing now, because we don’t have this issue 
resolved the only way to be permitted by the City is with bedrooms. 
 
Commissioners asked if the 6 lots could be for 55 and older area and if that was a determination 
that could be made by the builder or by City Code.  Mr. Powers said that age restricted 
communities are typically proposed by the developer and is enforced by the CC&R’s.  The City 
does not get in the business of age restricting developments.  Mr. Gentry added that Landed 
Gentry has built several age restricted communities that are governed by the Federal Fair 
Housing law and there are certain criteria that have to be met to be able to discriminate against 
families with children.  
 
Richard Porritt (2130 Fairway Lane) asked if the 4 additional lots available for development in 
Division 1 and the administrative action are not the issue tonight.  Mr. Powers said there has 
been no administrative action on any ADU permits in the Fairway Project.  What we are saying 
is that Landed Gentry has the ability to ask for that permit without first coming through a public 
hearing because the density is not an issue in Division 1 - 3. 
 
Richard Porritt (2130 Fairway Lane) asked if there could be an unlimited number of ADU’s in 
Division 3 because of the density standpoint.  Ms. Sartorius responded that the density for 1, 1a, 
2 and 3 is 4.9 dwelling units per acre.  If accessory units were built on all available lots within 
Division 3 it would still be within the originally approved density.  
 
Bruce Freeman (2746 SW Fairway Point Drive) was concerned about allowing ADU’s to be a 
separate structure without zoning approval.  Mr. Powers said that the permit process for ADU’s 
is an approval process in which the application is reviewed against the zoning code but it does 
not require a public hearing and this applies across the City of Oak Harbor.   
 
Mr. Powers outlined how the Planning Commission could address the concerns about the 
character of the PRD and believed that those concerns can be addressed through land, zoning 
or standard based conditions of approval.  If Planning Commission feels the way to handle the 
parking issue is to recommend to the Council that they require two parking spaces for the ADU 
in addition to the two that are required for the primary structure, that is something Planning 
Commission could recommend to the Council as a way of dealing with the land use impact to 
the proposed change.  Planning Commission can’t get into the issue of whether it is rented by 
someone or someone’s elderly mother that lives there or children that come home to live with 
their parents. 
 
Mr. Oliver asked if Mr. Gentry if there has been discussion within Landed Gentry about 
detached ADU’s.  Mr. Gentry said he didn’t think that the lots were large enough to 
accommodate detached units and anything that they would propose would be built into the 
home.  Mr. Powers noted that Planning Commission could add a condition that the ADU only be 
attached.  Mr. Gentry said that he would be willing to agree to that condition. 

8



 

Planning Commission 
July 24, 2012 
Page 6 of 11 

 
Floyd Haney (2777 SW Fairway Point Drive) asked what the administrative process was.  Mr. 
Powers explained that staff would review the submitted plans against the standards and the 
zoning code and verify that the plans meet requirements for lot coverage, parking, entryway and 
review the covenants.  Only if it meets all those criteria can it be approved by staff. 
 
Ms. Johnson-Pieffer asked staff to explain the difference between a PRD and a general 
residential development.  Mr. Powers explained that the normal platting process (regular 
subdivision) has certain requirements that are prescribed within the code.  The PRD also has a 
subdivision with an extra layer of approval but still operates inside of the density allowed by the 
zoning code but provides the developer flexibility in prescribing how big the lots might be.  They 
may wish to have smaller lots with smaller setbacks and devote more of their project space to 
open space or to a club house or to trails or those types of community features.  The PRD is an 
approval process that requires a public hearing before the Planning Commission and a decision 
by the Council that effectively customizes the development regulations for that particular piece 
of property.  So if a developer wants that flexibility they have to ask for the PRD and go through 
that process and they also have to have the subdivision plan approved.  The size of the project 
is immaterial to the type of development option that is utilized.  
 
Ms. Johnston-Pieffer asked if the PRD is designed to offer flexibility to the developer or certainty 
to the future homebuyers.  Mr. Powers said he believe that it is the former and that it is intended 
to allow flexibility to create varying lot sizes to develop the type of community that they wish to 
market to that end user.  In our community PRD’s are focused around natural features or golf 
courses because that is the market that that particular developer is interested in attracting.  So 
there is flexibility on one hand but in exchange for that flexibility they have to provide a certain 
amount of open space, amenities for the residence of that community.  They also lock 
themselves down to that plan and they have to build to that plan.  If they chose to ask to do 
something different we look at the code to determine if it is a minor change that can be 
approved administratively or a major change which has to go to the Planning Commission and 
the City Council.  
 
Mr. Wallin noted that the density is the issue and asked if building 6 bedroom homes affect the 
density.  Mr. Powers said that density is a function of the number of dwelling units per acre.  The 
number of bedrooms doesn’t matter and it is still a single dwelling unit. 
 
Commissioners asked Mr. Powers to explained density, the difference between a PRD and a 
regular development. 
 
Planning Commission Discussion 
Mr. Oliver didn’t think that only the four Planning Commissioner’s present should make this 
decision. 
 
Mr. Johnson-Pieffer said that she didn’t believe in fear based decision-making and the fear is 
that there may be a lot of young folks living in this area and the golf course land is going to turn 
into a bunch of duplexes and that is not what anyone had envisioned.  On the other hand the 
developer entered into this planned relationship with the City.  The developer said this is what I 
want to do with that property and set out the setbacks and density because they wanted 
certainty in what they were able to do.  The developer was given that certainty by the City and 
now the developer wants some additional flexibility and she didn’t know that they could have it 
both ways.  There is also some responsibility to the homeowners that bought into that certainty.  
There is also the responsibility to provide a viable housing option to some people that don’t 

9



 

Planning Commission 
July 24, 2012 
Page 7 of 11 

have that option out there and we have a responsibility as a community to think through these 
types of needs as well. 
 
Mr. Wallin said that the Planning Commission should continue the public hearing to next 
month’s regular Planning Commission meeting to allow the public an opportunity to review the 
staff report. 
 
Mr. Powers said that continuing the hearing was possible and staff would mail the staff report to 
those wishing to receive a copy. 
 
ACTION:  MR. OLIVER MOVED, MR. WALLIN SECONDED A MOTION TO CONTINUE 

THE FAIRWAY POINT PRD MODIFICATION TO CONSIDER ADU’S AGENDA 
ITEM TO NEXT MONTH’S PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING.  MOTION 
CARRIED. 

 
Planning Commission took a 5 minute break. 
 
NIGHTCLUB ORDINANCE – Public Meeting 
Mr. Kamak reported that this is a continuation of the discussion to regulate the size of night 
clubs.  Mr. Kamak highlighted several items discussed at the previous meeting and noted that 
the result of the public input at the last meeting was that the scale of nightclubs and the number 
of people that they can accommodate has a direct nexus to the negative impacts on adjacent 
properties.  Therefore the success of any solution would seem to be directly related to the ability 
of any proposed regulation to restrict the number of people that can patronize such an 
establishment on any given night.  Mr. Kamak presented the following methodologies for 
addressing the issue as well as some pros and cons for each: 
 

1. Regulate nightclubs as a land use:  Several comments received at the public meeting 
on amending the zoning code to include nightclubs as a use in certain zoning districts 
and requiring such uses to obtain a Conditional Use Permit. 

 Pros:  Requiring a nightclub to obtain a conditional use permit is a public process 
that will require public hearings and therefore adjacent property owners will have 
an opportunity to comment on the permit.  This will allow the Hearing Examiner to 
consider impacts and impose appropriate conditions on the use. 

 Cons:  It is possible for a nightclub to be approved if the proposed use meets all 
the identified criteria and still be an impact on the adjacent properties.  It is then a 
difficult and legally challenging process to identify and document violations of 
conditions of approval and to revoke the conditional use permit.    
 
Under the current structure of the code, where any use can obtain a nightclub 
license, defining nightclubs separately in the zoning ordinance will add an extra 
layer of confusion.  For example, would a restaurant (currently listed as a use) 
wanting to apply for a nightclub license be considered as a restaurant or as a 
nightclub?  The requirements for these from a building code and zoning code 
stand point are different and review of these permits can be challenging.  
Situations such as these can potentially create legal loop holes. 
 

2. Licensing uses by area:  This idea was included in the last memo to Planning 
Commission as a potential option to follow.  This idea would keep all the current codes in 
place and add an area threshold to OHMC Chapter 5.22, Business Licenses & 

10



 

Planning Commission 
July 24, 2012 
Page 8 of 11 

Regulation.  For instance, only structures/spaces below 5000 square feet are eligible for 
nightclub licenses.  

 Pros:  This will definitely limit the size of building or use that can apply for a 
nightclub license. 

 Cons:  This option may not address the actual impact of large groups of people 
generated from nightclubs because occupancy limits vary based on primary use 
and interior features/fixtures of the building.  Therefore, there is a high probability 
that a 5000 square feet space can vary in occupancy limit ranging from 50 to 
500.  For example, a restaurant under 5000 square feet and a occupant limit of 
120 can apply for a nightclub license and so can a piano bar under 5000 square 
feet and a occupant limit of 400.  So, although the square footage is the same, 
the occupancy limits can vary substantially. 
 

3. Licensing uses by occupant limit:  Using occupancy limits to restrict nightclubs was 
discouraged in the last memo to Planning Commission.  However, further discussion 
with the City’s Building Official has indicated that occupancy limits can be used 
creatively to regulate nightclubs.  The use of occupancy limits was discouraged earlier 
because it would not be feasible to implement a regulation that limited nightclub license 
holders to certain occupancy limits.  For example, if the City adopted a code to limit all 
nightclubs to an occupancy limit of 100, and if a restaurant that has an occupancy limit of 
150 applies for a nightclub license, the City cannot now require the restaurant to 
maintain a occupancy limit of 100 which is less than the approved occupancy limit for the 
primary use (restaurant). However, the City can adopt a code that sets an occupancy 
limit threshold to apply for the nightclub license.  For example, the code can restrict 
nightclub licenses to only uses that have an occupancy limit of 100 or less. Therefore the 
restaurant in the above example that has an occupancy limit of 150 will not be able to 
apply for a nightclub License. 

 Pros:  This will get to the heart of the impacts created by large nightclubs and will 
therefore limit the concentration of people in one location. 

 Cons:  This will limit the buildings and uses that can apply for a nightclub license 
and has the potential to create many small nightclubs that can still have a 
cumulative impact in an area. 

 
Mr. Kamak pointed out the occupancy limits of existing nightclub license holders as follows: 

El Cazador - 291 
Oak Harbor Tavern - 108 
Mi Pueblo - 280 
7 West – 165 
Off the Hook – 201 
Elements – 580 +219 (covered area) 

 
Mr. Kamak concluded that it appears that regulating nightclub licenses based on an occupancy 
limit threshold may address the impacts that adjacent property owners and residences feel from 
large nightclubs.  If the Planning Commission feels that Option 3 is the best course of action, 
code amendments related to it would go directly to City Council since the amendment would be 
in OHMC Chapter 5.22, Business Licenses & Regulation, and not in OHMC Title 19, Zoning. 
 
Mr. Kamak asked the Planning Commission for their recommendation on the methodology that 
should be use. 
 

11



 

Planning Commission 
July 24, 2012 
Page 9 of 11 

 
Mr. Oliver pointed out that he was representing Mr. Kumberfelt in a couple of real estate 
transactions as well as a couple of people in the Bayshore Condominium Association.  He 
asked the public if they cared to hear what he had to say. 
 
Mr. Powers noted that this was not a quasi-judicial proceeding so if this is a code amendment it 
is legislative so this is not focused on a particular piece of property. 
 
A member of the public asked if it was appropriate for Mr. Oliver to recues himself from voting 
on the issue and that he would like to hear what Mr. Oliver has to say but was a little reluctant to 
have him voting on the issue. 
 
Mr. Wallin asked if whatever is decided would have no effect on what Element has currently.  
Mr. Powers said that was correct.  Mr. Neil said this would affect new nightclubs. 
 
Mr. Wallin asked if the City be creating two different occupancy licenses if occupancy load was 
used as the criteria.  Mr. Kamak said yes, we could regulate by zoning districts.  You could have 
a limitation in occupancy depending on the zoning district. 
 
Ms. Johnson-Pieffer asked if Option 3 would mean that a business would have to choose 
whether it was applying for a restaurant license or a nightclub license.  Mr. Kamak said that 
when a business comes in for a building permit they are applying for a particular use such as a  
restaurant perhaps, the building official will review the plans against the building code and 
establish what the occupancy load for that restaurant is which sets the limit.  If later the 
restaurant determines that they want live music and extend the use they would come in a get a 
license on top of what they already have.  So the established occupancy load for the primary 
use would apply.  Ms. Johnson-Pieffer asked if a 400 capacity restaurant was applying for a 
nightclub license restricted to capacity of 300 would they be denied a nightclub license.  Mr. 
Kamak said they would have to be qualified to even apply.  If they wanted the nightclub license 
they would have to redesign the interior space to meet the building code.  They would have to 
make substantial changes to their capacity in order to accommodate the nightclub.  Mr. Powers 
noted that there is no language crafted yet and that so far we are only discussing the 
methodology. 
 
Mr. Oliver asked if an established nightclub were to sell and we have set the occupancy load at 
a lower level how will the new business owner be affected.  Mr. Kamak said that the new owner 
would have to apply for a new license and in that case we can either write a code that would 
allow the continued use of existing businesses or we can do it by location.  These are details 
that would need to be worked out if this methodology is chosen. 
 
Ms. Johnson-Pieffer said she did not support the conditional use permit methodology (Option 1) 
because she felt it was too volatile and was not a predictable enough process for a business 
model to operate in. 
 
Mr. Neil asked for public comment. 
 
Richard Everett (651 SE Bayshore Drive) asked how the occupancy limits would be developed.  
Mr. Powers said that the occupancy load was a function of the building code and the fire code.  
It is prescribed based upon uses, exits, construction materials, hallways and a variety of life 
safety issues.  Mr. Everett said that he felt an occupancy load of 800 was too high regardless of 
what the code says especially when patrons are drinking. He also pointed out the tragedy in 

12



 

Planning Commission 
July 24, 2012 
Page 10 of 11 

New Jersey in which many people were burned to death.  Mr. Powers noted that the fire code 
was changed as a result of that tragedy.  Mr. Powers also pointed out that the numbers are 
calculations and there is a difference between what the capacity is and what normally happens 
and the practical limitations.  Mr. Powers said that we are not in a position to change what the 
occupancy loads are and this is not a subject of discussion this evening. 
 
Mr. Everett said that in 2007 the condominium residents recommended that the City Council not 
authorize formation of the Element in that area and Captain Wallace made a statement for the 
record that he advised against it because it exposed the City to continuing problems from the 
mass of people that were going to be coming out of the club and the proximity of residents.  
Captain Wallace’s arguments were brushed aside and here we are four years later with this 
dilemma still before us.  He implored the City to use whatever power it has to do something 
constructive about it.  The Element is impacting the residents and others in terms of health, 
welfare and economic loss.  It should never have been and has got to cease as soon as 
possible. 
 
Billie Cook (651 SE Bayshore Drive) said that a small business district was never meant to 
bear the use or the impact of a mega-nightclub in like this.  She asked if this was the image that 
we want to project in our mixed use business district of large nightclubs that have violence, 
drunkenness and lewd behavior that goes on there all the time.  In other parts of the county 
these mega nightclubs are referred to as “roadhouses” where the venue is very loud and 
excessive drinking and finding a date or “hooking up” is the goal.  She stated that she didn’t feel 
that people who frequent the “roadhouse” or mega-nightclub are criminals or wrong in any way 
but that she didn’t want them in her front yard.  She asked if we wanted more of them in an area 
that we present to tourists, many whom are family-oriented or older visitors that don’t feel 
comfortable with that venue.  Is this the image that we want to present to attract businesses and 
jobs?  Ms. Cook believed that there should be a limit on the size of nightclubs in the Central 
Business District CBD) because it is too small for the impact of the mega-nightclub.  Along with 
a limitation on the size the CBD she hoped there would be some action taken to designate an 
area where the mega-club can operate.  
 
Mr. Oliver asked what Ms. Cook thought the best occupancy limit would be for the CBD.  Ms. 
Cook thought the limit should be100 but maybe 200. 
 
Planning Commission Discussion 
Mr. Oliver said that the problem with anything that people do in the business world is what they 
offer and he wasn’t sure how to address this issue.  Mr. Kamak said that the nexus is large 
groups of people create impacts and that is what we are trying to address.  Mr. Oliver asked if 
there was a count that can be gauged.  Mr. Kamak said that if the Planning Commission 
chooses occupancy load as a methodology the mission would be to see how we can write a 
code that would address the impacts to prevent large users from obtaining nightclub licenses.  
The occupant loads are based on their current uses and not based on nightclubs.  They are 
based their underlying use and that is a limitation established by the building code, so that will 
determine whether they can apply for a nightclub license or not.  We are not limiting the number 
of people in a particular building by the nightclub license we are saying who can apply for it so 
larger users may not be able to apply for it.  Or if the community wants to choose a special 
process that will accommodate the larger uses we would have to write that into the code as well. 
 
Mr. Wallin noted that Mi Pueblo has a particular room that is designated as the nightclub area 
and asked if each of their rooms has a separate occupancy load.  Mr. Powers said yes and that 
it is a combined occupancy.  Mr. Powers restated that the mission tonight is to get a consensus 

13



 

Planning Commission 
July 24, 2012 
Page 11 of 11 

on which of the three options that the Planning Commission would like staff to pursue and then 
staff will start trying to answer these questions. 
 
Ms. Johnson-Pieffer said that she liked the combination of zoning and occupancy but that she 
believed that it doesn’t matter what zone you put the nightclub in you are going to have the 
same problem but we can’t just say that we don’t want them.  There are members of the 
community that do use these establishments and we have a responsibility to allow these types 
of businesses to exist.  Mr. Kamak said that he didn’t think limiting the occupancy load is 
denying a certain type of business but just the size.  
 
Mr. Neil said he would like staff to pursue Option 3 - Licensing uses by occupant limit method. 
 
Mr. Wallin said he would like a combination of occupancy limit tied to the specific zones.   
 
Mr. Oliver said he prefers the occupancy limit but not tied to the specific zone.  Mr. Kamak said 
it was possible to have different occupancy limits in the different zoning districts and it will be a 
business license requirement.  By saying in the license requirement that any business with an 
occupancy load of greater than 200 in the CBD is prohibited from applying for a license, that will 
limit the number in the CBD.  You can say no business greater than 400 in the C-3 zone is 
permitted to apply for the nightclub license.  You can have that staggering in varying zoning 
districts if you choose.  So therefore you are not limiting or you can say in no zoning district shall 
be greater than 200, it is a community choice.  
 
Ms. Johnson-Pieffer liked that approach and asked if you put a 100 person limit in the CBD and 
you had a business that broke their building into three separate rooms in which they had a hip-
hop nightclub, a county/western club and a ballroom dancing each in a separate space that had 
the same 100 person occupancy limitation in each room and the same hours and they all left 
that facility at the same time we won’t have accomplished anything.  Mr. Kamak said that was 
correct and that is the risk.  The entire downtown could have nightclubs but those businesses 
would have to be separate from a building code standpoint.   
 
Mr. Oliver asked how the occupancy load is calculated.  Mr. Kamak said it was calculated by 
each business.  Each business has to be separate.  We are not limiting by area within the 
building we are calculating by the entire business’s occupancy load.   
 
Mr. Neil confirmed with the Planning Commission that they were directing staff to pursue option 
3 – Licensing uses by Occupancy Limit with some consideration to zoning. 
 
Mr. Kamak said that since the Planning Commission wishes to consider zoning categories it will 
still be in the Planning Commission’s realm to make a recommendation.  If the Planning 
Commission had said just occupancy load and not zoning it would no longer have been a 
Planning Commission issue and only a City Council issue. 
 
Mr. Oliver suggested thinking about barriers to mitigate sound also.  Mr. Kamak said that could 
be considered as part of the licensing requirement. 
 
Staff and Planning Commission discussed how to handle the remaining items on the agenda 
and decided to hold a special meeting on Monday, August 13, 2012 at 5:00 p.m. to discuss the 
Shoreline Master Program Update and the 2012 Comprehensive Plan Amendments. 
 
ADJOURN:  10:30 p.m. 

14



15



Planning Commission 
August 14, 2012 

Page 1 of 5 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
SPECIAL MEETING 
OAK HARBOR MUNICIPAL SHOPS 
AUGUST 14, 2012 
 
ROLL CALL:  Present: Bruce Neil, Greg Wasinger, Keith Fakkema and Jill Johnson-Pfeiffer.  
 Absent: Gerry Oliver, Jeff Wallin and Kristi Jensen. 

Staff Present:  Senior Planners, Ethan Spoo and Cac Kamak. 
 
Chairman Neil called the meeting to order at 5:10 p.m. 
 
MINUTES: THE JULY 28TH PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES WILL BE PRESENTED A 

THE REGULAR BUSINESS MEETING ON AUGUST 28, 2012.  
 
PUBLIC COMMENT: 
No comments. 
 
SHORELINE MASTER PROGRAM (SMP) – Public Meeting 
Mr. Spoo reported that the draft SMP was sent to the Department of Ecology’s at the end of 

April and their first review comments have been received.  None of the comments require 
reworking the SMP.  The comments regarded the Critical Areas section in Chapter 3.  The 
science has changed since our Critical Areas Ordinance was written so staff is working on those 
comments. There were also comments about definitions in Chapter 7. 
 
Mr. Spoo presented Chapter 4 – Shoreline Use Provisions and highlighted the Shoreline Use 
Table which contains the permitted, conditional, and prohibited uses for each of the environment 
designations.  Mr. Spoo pointed out that boating facilities are generally prohibited in all of the 
zones except for the Maritime environment designation along Maylor Point where the existing 
Marina is located and is allowed conditionally in the Urban Public Facility designation which is 
the designation that applies to Flintstone Park.  In the instance that someday there is some sort 
of pier/marina at that location. 
 
Public piers are allowed in the Maritime designation and Urban Public Facility designation and 
allow conditionally in the Urban Mixed Use which is the area adjacent to the condominiums and 
most of downtown.   
 
Commercial Uses are to be water dependent or water oriented uses and are permitted in the 
Maritime, Urban Mixed Use and prohibited elsewhere and are allow conditionally in Urban 
Public Facilities.  This is to capture the eventual build out to Windjammer Park.  There may be 
some sort of an assessor commercial that happens there along with the uses that develop in the 
park in terms of vendors.  Non water oriented uses are allowed conditionally in Maritime, Urban 
Mixed Use and Urban Public Facilities.   
 
Mr. Wasinger asked if a boat builder could only be in the Urban Mixed Use.  Mr. Spoo said that 
a boat builder is water dependent and could be in the Maritime, Urban Mixed Use or 
conditionally in Urban Public Facilities but there would be limitations in the Urban Public 
Facilities mostly due to the size. 
 

16



Planning Commission 
August 14, 2012 

Page 2 of 5 

Mr. Spoo continued on to residential uses.  Single-family residential uses are allowed in Urban 
Mixed Use, Residential, Residential Bluff Conservancy and prohibited elsewhere.  There is one 
location where multifamily is allowed which is Urban Mixed Use (where the condominiums are) 
and prohibited everywhere else. 
 
Wastewater Treatment Plants were allowed conditionally in Maritime, Urban Mixed Use, Urban 
Public Facility and Conservancy.  Conservancy is the area out along Crescent Harbor which is 
one of the sites that was discussed early on.  There is the potential that these designations 
could be narrowed down since Council has narrowed down the sites for the Wastewater 
Treatment Plant but if for some reason the sites change we may want to leave the options open. 
 
Mr. Spoo reviewed the Summary of Shoreline Development Standards.  This table contains: 

Maximum height: 
Meant to preserve visual access (views) to water. 
Generally, 35 feet. 55 feet in Urban Mixed Use and Maritime. 
View corridor study needed over 35 feet. 

Setbacks: 
50 feet from OHWM, except 75 in UPF & 100 Conservancy. 
Bluff – as recommended by geotechnical engineer, no less than 25 feet. 
Averaging is allowed. 

 Impervious Surfaces: 
  The closer to the shoreline the less impervious surface is allowed. 
 
Mr. Spoo reviewed the Shoreline Use Provisions which are the specifics about the types of uses 
and the policies and regulations that apply to those uses.  Boating facilities and marinas 
includes piers, marinas, public boat launches.  The location, materials, size, number are 
regulated. For example, 24% of open area is required for overwater structures. Creosote treated 
wood is not allowed. For Commercial uses, no new overwater commercial uses are allowed, 
except accessory to a water dependent use.  For Industrial Uses, only water-dependent 
industrial is allowed in the Maritime shoreline environment designation. 
 
Residential uses are priority under SMA and the proper management of these uses include 
avoiding stabilization, no overwater residences, conserve vegetation, limit impervious surfaces 
and discourage septic systems.  

 
Planning Commission Discussion 
Mr. Fakkema asked if a restaurant could be built at the end of the pier if the Marina went away.  
Mr. Spoo said that he believe the regulations would discourage that from happening.  Mr. 
Kamak said that if the Marina went out of business that the City would do an amendment to the 
SMP. 
 
Ken Hulett (2820 SW Scenic Heights Street) asked for an example of 24% open area.  Mr. 
Spoo explained that it is a light passage issue and the shoreline science says that juvenile 
salmon that pass under the dock need that light because it makes it hard for them to see their 
predators.  The gaps between the wood boards of a dock could count toward the 24% but you 
may have to have other grating in order to achieve the 24%. 
 
Mr. Wasinger asked staff if Carl Freund’s issue regarding Freund Marsh has been resolved. Mr. 
Spoo explained that the boundary over the Freund Marsh area follows a study that was done by 

17



Planning Commission 
August 14, 2012 

Page 3 of 5 

the National Wetland Inventory.  The study was based on aerial photos and soils so the wetland 
boundaries are not completely accurate.  Someone would have to gone out in the field and 
delineated exactly what the boundaries of that wetland are.  Mr. Freund was concerned that 
some of his property in that area was shown as being in the SMP and being in wetland when 
they are not.  Staff worked with Mr. Freund and discovered that the vacant piece of property 
north of Dillard’s Addition was approved for fill by the Army Corps of Engineers and that means 
that the Corps will not allow fill in an area that is wetlands.  So if they approved this as a fill 
location we know it is not wetlands.  So there is the potential that we will remove that property 
out of the shoreline designation later on.  Ms. Johnson-Pieffer asked if the property would be 
removed from shoreline designation before final approval.  Mr. Spoo said that it would likely be 
changed in November.  
 
Ms. Johnson-Pieffer asked if the shoreline moves inland will the setback keep moving as well.  
Mr. Spoo said that the SMP is based on no net loss which means that the conditions on the 
ground today is what we will measure against going forward.  The SMP isn’t going to require 
people in the future to move their house that they have now to comply with these standards.  
Mr. Spoo explained that the setback is measured from the ordinary high watermark and when 
you come to the City with a shoreline substantial development permit then it is the applicant’s 
responsibility to document where the ordinary high watermark is at that time.  The applicant will 
usually employ a surveyor and sometimes a biologist to confer on where the high watermark is.  
There is a process in the SMP where you can document where the high water mark is and it 
won’t change in the future.  Mr. Spoo said would benefit a property owner to be proactive and 
document the ordinary high watermark. 
 
Ken Hulett (2820 SW Scenic Heights Street) asked about the conservancy area out on 
Crescent Harbor.  He wanted to know how that area became part of the shoreline jurisdiction.  
Mr. Spoo explained that the shoreline jurisdiction is generally within 200 feet of the ordinary high 
watermark.  The conservancy area is wetlands. 
 
2012 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AMENDMENT DISCUSSION 
Mr. Kamak reported that the City Council approved the 2012 Comprehensive Amendment 
Docket to include consideration of land use amendments to properties adjacent to the marina.  
The intent of the land use amendment is to consider a designation that would allow additional 
uses the support the marina and other water-oriented uses.  The current land use designation is 
PF, Public Facilities. Mr. Kamak noted some of the uses to consider as follows:  
 
Permitted Uses 

 Marina 
 Accessory uses to the marina such as storage sheds, parking lots, boat and trailer 

storage 
 Private clubs ancillary to the marina 
 Private boat yards and storage 
 Boat and ship builders 
 Water-dependent uses – ferry and passenger terminals, ship building and dry 

docking, float plane facilities, sewer and storm outfalls and similar uses. 
 Water-related uses – warehousing of goods transported by water 
 Parks and trails 

 
Conditional Uses 

18



Planning Commission 
August 14, 2012 

Page 4 of 5 

 Principal permitted uses in the Central Business District (CBD)  except residential 
dwelling units  

Mr. Kamak explained that the three methods to address changing the land use designation for 
the properties adjacent to the marina (text amendment, overlay zones and creating a new land 
use and zoning designation).  
 
The Text Amendment method can introduce the additional uses that are desirable into the 
existing PF, Public Facilities zoning classification.  However, unless otherwise restricted adding 
these uses to the existing zoning classification will allow them to be permitted wherever there is 
PF, Public Facility designations in the City such as Windjammer Park, Flintstone Park, schools 
etc.  Since some of these uses may not be desirable in other locations, it can potentially lead to 
challenging issues in the future.  
 
The Overlay Zone method is a regulatory tool that creates a special zoning district, placed over 
an existing base zone(s), which identifies special provisions in addition to those in the 
underlying base zone.  Overlay zones are used to protect resources such as environmentally 
sensitive areas, historic district, or encourage or discourage specific types of development.  In 
this case, the overlay zone would encourage additional uses above and beyond what is 
currently permitted in the underlying base zone.  An overlay zone has a clearly defined 
boundary and can be created by adding a section in the zoning ordinance describing its intent 
and the uses that would be permitted.  The drawback of an overlay zone is the potential for 
conflict between regulations or requirements between the underlying base zone and the overlay 
zone, especially if the overlay zone is trying to accommodate many uses that the underlying 
zone does not permit. 
 
Then new land use category method would create a new land use category in the 
Comprehensive Plan and create a corresponding zoning code section.  Choosing to create a 
new land use category to address a small area in the city appears like a major change.  
However, in the future, if the Navy made more land available at the seaplane base for private or 
public development, this land use category can be used to designate the area and encourage 
development. 
 
Mr. Kamak concluded by recommending that the Planning Commission discuss the issue and 
gather input from the public on uses to consider/accommodate in the area.  The Commission’s 
discussion and public input will help create a framework and establish a preference for 
methodology to consider changes in the area. 
 
Planning Commission Discussion 
Mr. Fakkema thought the overlay method was confusing and the least attractive. 
 
Mr. Neil and liked the new land use category method. 
 
Mr. Fakkema, Mr. Wasinger and Mr. Neil liked the idea of using the Maritime designation as the 
new land use category. 
 
Mr. Hewett commented that the good news is that it would apply to a small piece of property. 
 
Mr. Kamak added that the SMP has the Maritime designation spans from Oak Harbor Bay to 
Crescent Harbor Bay.  What we are talking about in the new land use category is limited only to 
the marina upland improvements primarily because Navy property is not available to do 

19



Planning Commission 
August 14, 2012 

Page 5 of 5 

anything else.  In the future if rules change and the Navy decides to open up some of the 
property for some other development what is the best way that we can take whatever we have 
along the shore and expand it further. We can look at the SMP that designates Maritime and 
see that this zoning can easily transfer if the Navy opens up the land. 
 
Ms. Johnson-Pieffer asked why there isn’t zoning on the Navy property already.  Mr. Kamak 
said that there a classification called Navy property. We haven’t taken the time to detail out what 
is allow in that classification primarily because the Navy doesn’t have to follow whatever we 
define is allowed and we wouldn’t want to create any point where someone is out of compliance 
with our zoning.  If the Navy were to open up the property it would be a process that would take 
many years and the City would have advance notice. 
 
Commissioners discussed permitted uses and conditional uses that the new land use category 
could accommodate.  Commissioners discussed the compatibility of certain uses such as boat 
building and hotels seasonal non-permanent structures (kiosks etc).  Mr. Kamak noted that the 
SMP doesn’t allow any lodging or residential in the Maritime designation because it is in the 
commercial and industrial category.  If over the next 10 to 15 years and there is no boat building 
business that comes forward and the marina gets investment from other industry the City will be 
able to reevaluate Maritime designation.  The non-permanent structures fall under temporary 
use regulations. 
 
Planning Commissioners directed staff to move ahead with the staff recommendations for 
permitted and conditional uses allowed in the new land use category.  
 
ADJOURN:  6:25 p.m. 

20



Fairway Point PRD 

Modification to Consider  

Accessory Dwelling Units (ADU) 

 

Public Hearing 

 

21



August 28, 2012 Fairway Point PRD Amendment to Consider ADUs 

Page 1 of 7 

 Date: August 28, 2012  

 Subject: Fairway Point PRD Modification 

– To Consider ADU's within 

Division 4  

 

 

 

FROM: Melissa Sartorius, Associate Planner 

  

PURPOSE 

This report presents a request to Planning Commission for a modification to the Fairway Point 

Planned Residential Development (PRD) Division 4 to add accessory dwelling units (ADU's) to 

the basements of house plans for up to six remaining lots to be developed.  The modification is 

requested by the owner FP4, L.L.C. represented by Mr. Kendall Gentry. 

 

Initially the proposed modification was believed to affect Divisions 1-4 of the Fairway Point 

subdivision however upon further review it was determined that only an amendment to Division 

4 would be required as the request changes the approved density for Division 4. The inclusion of 

ADU's within Divisions 1-3 does not exceed the approved density for those divisions and thus an 

amendment to their respective PRD plans is not required. However public noticing of the 

proposal and hearing was prepared and sent prior to the determination and encompassed all 

divisions. Subsequently, it should be clarified that the public hearing and action on this item is 

for Division 4 only.    

 

AUTHORITY 

The Washington State Growth Management Act (RCW 36.70A) requires that counties and cities 

adopt zoning and other development regulations that are consistent with their adopted 

Comprehensive Plans. The Washington Growth Management Act encourages innovative 

techniques of land development, including PUDs or PRD's
1
. The City of Oak Harbor's 

Comprehensive Plan contains policies regarding PRD's in both the Land Use Element and the 

Housing Element of the Plan. The Planning Commission has the authority to review plans and 

hold a public hearing on PRDs and form a recommendation to City Council under the Oak 

Harbor Municipal Code (OHMC) sections 19.31.210 and 19.31.220. The City Council has the 

authority to approve or deny a modification to a PRD  at a closed record meeting pursuant to 

OHMC 19.31.280(2) and 19.31.230.
2
  

 

SUMMARY STATEMENT 

In the City of Oak Harbor accessory dwelling units are permitted in all single family zoning 

districts with an administrative permit. Fairway Point PRD is a subdivision consisting of 180 lots 

located on the north side of Ft. Nugent Avenue, and west of Whidbey Golf and Country Club. As 

the subdivision is a PRD, the development of the subdivision is tied to specific approved plans. 

                                                           
1
 http://www.mrsc.org/subjects/planning/lu/plannedunitdev.aspx 

2
 19.31.230 PRD development plan – Council decision. 

The council shall hold a closed record meeting to consider the application. Council shall make one of the following 

decisions: approval as submitted, approval with conditions or denial. Council decisions on PRD permits shall be 

final unless appealed to the Island County superior court in accordance with Chapter 36.70C RCW.  

 

City of Oak Harbor 

Planning Commission Report 
 

22



August 28, 2012 Fairway Point PRD Amendment to Consider ADUs 

Page 2 of 7 

The applicant is requesting to modify the PRD plans of Fairway Point (Attachment 1) to add 

ADU's to the basements of house plans for up to six remaining lots to be developed within 

Division 4 (Attachment 2). A modification to these specific plans require legislative approval and 

seeks public input and comment through the PRD process. 

 

Project Information 

Developer:  Landed Gentry Development 

Owner:  Fairway Point 1, Inc. (Divisions 1-3) and FP4, L.L.C. (Division 4) 

Location:  West Ft. Nugent Avenue, west of Whidbey Golf & Country Club. 

Zoning:  R-1 Single-family Residential 

Comprehensive Plan:  Low-Density Residential 

Site Area:  44.4 acres (total site) 

Units:   180 single family residential lots (total site) 

Density:  3.8 dwelling units per acre (total site), 4.9 du/acre for Divisions 1,1a, 2,  

   and 3, and 4.76 du/acre for Division 4 

Open Space:    4.44 acres (total site) 

 

DISCUSSION 

 

Background 

On May 22, 2007, the Planning Commission recommended approval of the Preliminary and Final 

PRD for Fairway Point Division 4 to the City Council subject to Conditions of Approval. On 

June 19, 2007 the City Council approved the same. The City Council approved the PRD overlay 

zone for Division 4 on August 4, 2010 in association with the final plat (Attachment 3).   

 

Accessory Dwelling Units (ADU) 

The OHMC defines an accessory dwelling unit (ADU) as "a habitable living unit added to, 

created within or detached from a single-family dwelling that provides basic requirements for 

living, sleeping, eating, cooking and sanitation." ADU's are commonly known as mother-in-law 

apartments or cottage apartments and are essentially a second dwelling unit created on a lot. 

Typically they are auxiliary to and smaller than the main dwelling unit. ADU's are recognized in 

urban planning for providing solutions for affordable housing and infill development within 

urban areas
1
. ADU's are addressed under section 19.42 of the OHMC which requires 

administrative permits from the Development Services Department.. ADU's are required to meet 

the criteria listed in the code (see Attachment 4).   

 

Planned Residential Development (PRD) 

According to the Municipal Research and Services Center of Washington (MRSC), "a planned 

unit development (PUD) is a large, integrated development, developed under unified control 

according to a master plan, and located on a single (or contiguous) tract of land. Some 

jurisdictions provide for planned residential developments (PRDs) which are similar, master-

planned, and typically clustered development, but are limited to residential uses."
2
 Local PRD 

development regulations provide more planning flexibility than traditional zoning. They typically 

offer applicants regulatory flexibility in return for higher quality site and architectural design 

                                                           
1
 http://www.mrsc.org/publications/texadu.aspx 

2
 http://www.mrsc.org/subjects/planning/lu/plannedunitdev.aspx 

23



August 28, 2012 Fairway Point PRD Amendment to Consider ADUs 

Page 3 of 7 

with the intent of encouraging the design of a more complete and sustainable neighborhood 

environment. "The Washington Growth Management Act encourages innovative techniques of 

land development, including PUDs and PRDs. A PRD is master planned, but the PRD process 

cannot, by itself, create legal lots of record. Legal lots within the PRD must be created through 

the subdivision process. In general, the PRD is a voluntary option, available in many Washington 

communities."
1
  

 

The PRD regulations of the OHMC (Section 19.31.010) offer applicants regulatory flexibility in 

return for higher quality site and architectural design with the intent of encouraging the design of 

more complete and sustainable neighborhood environments consistent with Oak Harbor’s 

comprehensive plan. The PRD regulations allow and promote design flexibility, pedestrian-

oriented development, interconnectivity among uses, sensitivity to the natural environment and 

natural features, and the coordination of development with adequacy of public facilities. 

 

The PRD overlay zone essentially modifies the regulations of the existing zoning district. 

Because legal lots of record must be created through the subdivision process, the approval 

process for a PRD subdivision often creates several approval documents (ordinances/resolutions) 

distinguishing the plat from the PRD plans. The modification process must include a public input 

process for homeowners. 

 

Process 

Section 19.31.280 of the OHMC provides regulations for modifications to PRD development 

plans. Modifications are classified as either minor or major depending upon the scope of change. 

In this case, as the applicant requests the addition of dwelling units to the subdivision, the 

modification is considered a major modification as it changes the approved density of the 

subdivision. Major modifications to PRD plans require a public hearing and review by the 

Planning Commission who shall forward a recommendation to the City Council for consideration 

in a closed record meeting (OHMC 19.31.230). Such a modification is classified as a Type IV 

review process in the OHMC and is quasi-judicial in nature.  

 

Proposal Description and Review 

The applicant proposes a maximum of an additional six dwelling units to Division 4. The 

applicant indicates in the narrative that the actual number of ADU's that are to be built will likely 

be lower than requested. As the modification process is somewhat lengthy, the applicant is 

seeking the maximum number of units to provide them with future flexibility. The applicant 

proposes the ADU be attached and be located in the basements of two of their specific house 

plans; the Maxwelton and Whidbey. The proposal includes plans showing the lots eligible for 

ADU's, lots that are already built on, floor plans including exterior elevations for the two house 

models, and an example of a typical house plan on a lot proposed for an ADU (Attachment 2). 

 

The application was routed to city departments for review and comment. City staff analyzed 

transportation concurrency, addressing, solid waste, water meter size, and utility billing aspects 

of the project but had no substantial comments on the modification. The Development Services 

Department is tasked with reviewing the proposal for  conformity with all applicable criteria and 

                                                           
1
 http://www.mrsc.org/subjects/planning/lu/plannedunitdev.aspx 

24



August 28, 2012 Fairway Point PRD Amendment to Consider ADUs 

Page 4 of 7 

standards.  The following details that review: 
 

Density 

As the number of dwelling units is proposed to change, the density
1
 would also change. City staff 

reviewed the current and proposed density for the overall subdivision and for the approved 

divisions to ensure that as proposed, it would not exceed the maximum for the R-1 zoning 

district.  Density for the R-1 zoning district ranges from a minimum of three dwelling units per 

acre (du/ac) to a maximum of six du/ac.   

The current density for Divisions 1, 1a, 2, and 3 was approved by Ordinance No. 1421 and is 4.9 

du/ac. Using a maximum of 29 ADU's, the proposed density for these divisions would be 4.69 

du/ac (140+29=169/36=4.69). The proposed density is less than the approved density and 

therefore does not require an amendment to the PRD.  

The current density for Division 4 as approved by Ordinance 1583 (Attachment 3)  is 4.76 du/ac 

(see the Project Info on Sheet A1.1 of Attachment 1). Using a maximum of 6 ADU's (as shown 

on the proposed PRD plan- Attachment 2), the proposed density for these divisions would be 

5.48 du/ac (40+6=46/8.4=5.48). The proposed density is more than the approved density and 

therefore an amendment to the PRD is required. 

 

PRD Review Criteria 

The OHMC states that major modifications shall be reviewed under the same process as outlined 

under OHMC 19.31.200 through 19.31.230. This section of code outlines the Planning 

Commission and City Council review processes. The City Council review process is listed under 

Footnote 2 on Page 1 of this report. OHMC 19.31.210 outlines the Planning Commission's 

review process as the following: 

 

(1) The PRD development plan shall be considered at a public hearing before the planning 

commission.   

 

The public hearing on this proposal is scheduled for June 26, 2012.  

 

(2) Upon receipt of the PRD development plan, the planning commission shall examine such 

plan and determine whether it conforms to all applicable criteria and standards. 

 

OHMC 19.31.250(1) requires "all lots or other divisions of a subdivided PRD shall remain 

subject to compliance with the PRD development plan regardless of the fact of subdivision under 

OHMC Title 21 or subsequent conveyance of such individual lots or divisions, unless a minor or 

major modification has been approved."  

 

City staff have reviewed the modification against the existing approved PRD plans (Attachment 

1). Ordinance 1583 approving the PRD overlay zone for Fairway Point Division 4 on August 4, 

                                                           

1 19.08.245 Density. “Density” means the number of dwelling units divided by the gross acre. 

 

25



August 28, 2012 Fairway Point PRD Amendment to Consider ADUs 

Page 5 of 7 

2010 (Attachment 3), requires that all development within the Fairway Point Division 4 PRD 

Overlay Zone be consistent with the that division's PRD as approved by the Oak Harbor City 

Council on June 19. 2007.  Development standards not addressed by Division 4's PRD shall be 

the same as the underlying zoning and/or other applicable provisions of the OHMC.  Staff 

reviewed this drawing set and the Project Info on Sheet A1.1 lists the density as 4.76 lots/acre. In 

order to conform to all applicable criteria and standards, Ordinance 1583 shall be amended to 

reflect the proposed density change of 5.48 for this division. 

 

As the applicant is proposing ADU's within the basements of house plans that fit within the 

existing building envelopes for the PRD (Attachment 2) and are not detached ADU's, no 

compatibility issues with setbacks, lot coverage, landscaping, or other appear to exist. 

Compatibility with these items and those criterion listed in OHMC 19.42 (ADU section of code) 

will be addressed on a permit-by-permit basis during administrative review of each ADU. Staff 

analysis of the PRD criteria are listed under #4 below.  

 

As proposed, the modification only changes the density listed on the face of the plans. All other 

provisions and approvals remain as shown.  No other changes to the PRD development plans are 

proposed.  

 

(3) In the event the planning commission determines that the development plan does not conform 

to these criteria and standards, they may require such changes in the proposed project or impose 

such conditions of approval as are, in its judgment, necessary to ensure conformity.  

 

The Planning Commission may add conditions of approval to staff's recommendation below as 

they see necessary to ensure conformity. 

 

(4) The planning commission shall review the project to determine if it is consistent with the 

criteria in OHMC 19.31.170.  

 

The criteria from 19.31.170 are primarily for new PRD development however staff identified that  

the following criteria are applicable to the proposed modification:  

 

(1) Aside from the specific regulations, requirements or standards proposed to be varied, 

the project otherwise meets the requirements of the Oak Harbor Municipal Code.  

 

As previously mentioned, city staff have reviewed the modification with the requirements of 

the OHMC and have determined that all requirements are met or will be met. 

 

(6) The PRD shall comply with all of the following adopted standards: 

 

(a) The requirements of OHMC Title 21, Subdivisions. Variations from the requirements in 

OHMC Title 21 may be requested and reviewed as part of the PRD application. Other than 

the specific standards being varied from, PRDs must meet all applicable standards of 

OHMC Title 21, including the general design standards (Chapter 21.50 OHMC) and the 

residential design standards (Chapter 21.60 OHMC). 

 

26



August 28, 2012 Fairway Point PRD Amendment to Consider ADUs 

Page 6 of 7 

No variations from Title 21 are being requested as part of the modification.  

 

(b) The standards and requirements of this chapter. If there is a conflict between the 

standards of this chapter and the standards in OHMC Title 21, the standards in this chapter 

shall take precedence.  

 

There are no conflicts between Chapter 19.31 and Title 21 for the proposed modification. 

 

(c) The Oak Harbor comprehensive plan policies.  

 

As previously mentioned, the Oak Harbor Comprehensive Plan contains two policies 

regarding PRD's; one in the Land Use Element and the other in the Housing Element of the 

Plan.  

Land Use Element 

Goal 2, Policy 2a:  Encourage planned residential development (PRDs) with 

performance based standards.  

 

Housing Element 

Island County Goals and Policies 

Policy F:  Provide for PRDs to include either attached or detached housing units, 

while preserving rural character.  

  

(d) The design guidelines and regulations, if applicable. 

 

The design guidelines and regulations are not applicable to this particular modification. 

ADU criteria exists within Section 19.42 of the OHMC.  

 

(e) All other standards adopted by the city of Oak Harbor, including engineering details and 

drawings. 

 

No specific standards as adopted by the City are applicable to this modification.  

 

PUBLIC NOTICE 

The Planning Commission held a public hearing on July 24, 2012 and decided to continue the 

hearing until the next regular meeting of the Commission on August 28, 2012. A Notice of 

Public Hearing, advertising the Planning Commission public hearing for August 28, 2012 was 

published in the Whidbey News Times on August 11, 2012.  

 

CITIZEN COMMENTS 

In addition to the public comment presented at the hearing on July 24, 2012, one written public 

comment on the matter was received on July 23, 2012.  Although this comment was given to 

Commissioners at the July meeting, it has also been included as Attachment 5 to this report. At 

the July Planning Commission meeting, concerns were raised by citizens about the increase in 

density, vehicle traffic, on-street parking, and the number of proposed ADU's.  Citizens voiced 

concerns regarding general incompatibility of ADU inclusion within the subdivision. Should the 

Planning Commission decide to approve the modification, they may add conditions of approval 

27



August 28, 2012 Fairway Point PRD Amendment to Consider ADUs 

Page 7 of 7 

that mitigate or address the above concerns. 

 

CONCLUSION 

Staff has reviewed the request and found the only change to approved plans or regulations is the 

modification to density on Sheet A1.1 of the Preliminary and Final PRD Drawing Set dated June 

7, 2006 and the reference to the former in Ordinance No. 1583.  Otherwise, the request is in 

conformance with all applicable criteria and standards in the OHMC and the approved PRD 

plans, resolutions and ordinances. Since PRD's are tied specifically to the plans approved for the 

project and any modifications to these plans if approved should become part of the official record 

of the subdivision, staff recommends that only Sheet 1 of 1 titled ADU Modification to Fairway 

Point Division 4 P.R.D. dated August 6, 2012 (Exhibit A) be approved with the draft ordinance. 

The approval of a modification to the PRD plans for Fairway Point Division 4 will allow the 

applicant to apply for the administrative ADU permits on a house-by-house basis. 

 

The Planning Commission has the authority under OHMC 19.31.210(3) to consider adding a 

condition of approval to the draft ordinance that would limit the number of ADU's to a number 

less than the six proposed by the applicant. In addition, City staff would recommend, and the 

applicant has indicated agreement with, a condition of approval whereby the ADU's shall be 

integrated into the primary unit as opposed to detached. 

 

The draft ordinance addressing the items noted above and other requirements of the OHMC, and 

approving the proposed modification for Division 4 is attached for the Planning Commission's 

consideration. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends that Planning Commission take the following actions:  

 Accept public comments on the proposed modification and close the public hearing.  

 Recommend approval of the draft ordinance amending Ordinance No. 1583 to City 

Council. 

 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Preliminary and Final PRD Drawing Set for Fairway Point Division 4 – 5 sheets, 

Submitted May 17, 2007. 

2. Proposed PRD Modification as submitted by the applicant dated May 9, 2012 and August 

6, 2012. 

3. Ordinance No. 1583 - Approval of the PRD Overlay Zone for Fairway Point Division 4 

dated August 4, 2010. 

4. Chapter 19.42 Accessory Dwelling Units - Oak Harbor Municipal Code 

5. Public Comment 

6. Draft Ordinance amending Ordinance No. 1583. 

28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



Shoreline Master Program (SMP) 

Update 

 

Public Meeting 

59



 Page 1 

Memo 

To: Members of the Planning Commission 

Cc: Steve Powers, Development Services Director 

From: Ethan Spoo, Senior Planner 

Date: 8/23/12 

Re: Shoreline Master Program Update – Chapters 5, 6, 7 Review 

PURPOSE 

This memorandum gives an overview of Chapters 5, 6, and 7 of the Draft Shoreline Master Program (SMP). 
 

CHAPTER 5: SHORELINE MODIFICATION PROVISIONS 

Shoreline modifications are actions taken to modify the shoreline in preparation for a specific land use. For 
example, fill may be placed on a site to accommodate a future land use. Dredging might be needed for the 
placement of a pier or dock. Shoreline stabilization might be installed to accommodate a new house. 

THE SCIENCE 
Shoreline modifications usually occur at or near the water’s edge. The science shows that disturbing the 
shoreline by placing new fill, dredging, constructing new bulkheads, or building structures over the water can 
have negative impacts on the shoreline environment. For instance, the following impacts have been identified 
for these shoreline modifications: 

 Hard stabilization (i.e. bulkheads). Shoreline stabilization are actions taken to address erosion 
impacts to property caused by currents, tides, winds, or waves. Structural stabilization or hard 
stabilization are commonly called bulkheads or seawalls. Soft stabilization are things like shoreline 
buffers, setbacks, and planting of vegetation. Bulkheads have been shown to disrupt the natural 
movement of sediment along beaches and, vice versa, the movement of sediment from upland areas 
onto the beaches. Sediment from eroding bluffs is important for building beaches. Neither sediment nor 
large woody debris can be transferred onto beaches if hard stabilization is present. While bulkheads 
are usually placed to prevent erosion, in the long-run, they can actually accelerate it by deflecting wave 
energy under the bulkhead or onto adjacent properties. See attached handout on shoreline armoring to 
learn more.1 

 Dredge and fill. Dredging of aquatic areas has short-term impacts like reducing water clarity and the 
potential to place toxic material in the environment. Long-term impacts include killing aquatic plants and 
animals and altering oxygen levels in the water column. Fill in aquatic areas disrupts some of the most 
productive areas for wildlife feeding, breeding, and shelter.2 

                                                      
1 For more information on the environmental impacts of shoreline armoring, go to http://www.pugetsoundnearshore.org  
2 For fill impacts, see Technical Report 2011-02, Strategic Needs Assessment: Analysis of Nearshore Ecosystem Process Degradation in 
Puget Sound, page 57, Puget Sound Nearshore Ecosystem Restoration Project. 

60

http://www.pugetsoundnearshore.org/


 Page 2 

 Overwater structures. Overwater structures block light from shallow water areas which are used by 
juvenile salmon. Young salmon usually stay close to the shore to avoid predators which are deeper in 
the water. Salmon are thought to swim around piers into the light, meaning that they have to move into 
deeper waters near predators. Also, less light means fewer smaller species for salmon to eat and less 
eelgrass which provides shelter for crab, salmon, and herring. Overwater structures also require 
changes to the aquatic soils to accommodate piles.3 

The above are just some of the impacts from shoreline modifications. 

GUIDELINES AND STATE REQUIREMENTS 
Because shoreline modifications impact the shoreline environment, the State Guidelines limit their size, type, 
and number. The newly adopted Guidelines (2003) have very prescriptive and detailed requirements with 
regard to shoreline armoring and bulkheads. To simplify those Guidelines, new hard armoring (i.e. bulkheads), 
is not allowed except for a very limited set of circumstances. Those circumstances are: (1) to protect an existing 
primary structure that is in danger from erosion; (2) to support new nonwater-dependent development when soft 
armoring, setbacks are not feasible, and when a geotechnical report recommends it to protect the structure; (3) 
to support water-dependent uses when soft armoring, setbacks are not feasible and when a geotechnichal 
report recommends it. In other words, as a general rule all other possibilities must be explored first before new 
hard stabilization is allowed. 

KEY POLICIES AND REGULATIONS 
Shoreline stabilization 

In compliance with the State Guidelines, the Draft SMP allows hard stabilization where it can be demonstrated 
that an existing, primary structure or use is in imminent danger from shoreline erosion, and that soft armoring 
methods are not feasible. Hard stabilization may also be allowed for new structures under certain conditions. 

Different standards apply to new or enlarged stabilization versus repair of existing stabilization. It is important to 
note that there are few sites where new stabilization is possible in Oak Harbor due to the developed nature of 
our shoreline. Staff believe that repairs of existing stabilization will be more common in Oak Harbor than 
construction of new stabilization. The Draft SMP sets forth the following provisions with regard to stabilization: 

 Major repair of hard stabilization is defined as 50 percent or more of the linear length of the shoreline 
stabilization. Major repair may be approved if the primary structure is located less than 10 feet from the 
Ordinary High Water mark (OHWM) or for those structures further than 10 feet from the OHWM where 
the primary structure is in danger from shoreline erosion within three years. Please note, however, that 
emergency repairs of bulkheads from storm damage are exempt from obtaining permits. 

 Minor repairs (less than 50 percent of the linear length) are allowed outright. 

 New or enlarged hard stabilization is only allowed when recommended by a geotechnical engineer that 
an existing, primary structure is in danger from erosion within three years and that other alternatives are 
not feasible. 

 Hard stabilization may be allowed for a new structure when it is demonstrated that the erosion is 
caused by upland conditions, non-structural methods are not feasible (soft armoring, setbacks, 
vegetation), and a geotechnical report demonstrates the need for hard stabilization. 

Dredging and Fill 

Dredging and fill activities are discouraged due to their environmental impacts. Dredging is permitted in the 
following circumstances: 

 When necessary to support a water-dependent use 

 For expansion or alteration of public utility facilities 

                                                      
3 Shoreline Master Program Handbook, “Piers,docks and other structures,” page 5. 

61



 Page 3 

 As part of mitigation actions, restoration, or habitat enhancement 

 When aquatic life and water quality will not be substantially impaired. 

Maintenance dredging (i.e. for the marina) is restricted to maintaining the previously dredged location, depth, 
and width. 

Fill waterward of the OHWM requires a conditional use permit and is restricted to the minimum necessary to: 

 Support water-dependent uses, 

 Provide public access, 

 Other less frequent conditions. 

Piers, Docks, Floats, Mooring Balls and Mooring Buoys (overwater structures) 

As previously discussed, overwater structures impact the shoreline environment due to their disturbance of the 
substrate and blocking of light. Thus, this section attempts to limit the environmental impacts of these structures 
by limiting their number, size, and type.  

 Private piers and docks are not common in Oak Harbor, and historically, there hasn’t been a demand 
for these structures. Piers and docks are permitted in the Maritime, Urban Public Facilities, and Urban 
Mixed Use (conditional use permit) environment designations. Width is limited to 6 feet. Decking 
materials must allow for 24% open area for light emission. These standards do not apply to the marina. 

 Floats shall be no wider than 8 feet and limited to 60 feet in length. This standard does not apply to the 
marina. 

 New piers or docks are subject to mitigation requirements specifying that the area 10 feet from OHWM 
be planted with 75% native vegetation. Alternative planting plans may be approved by the Shoreline 
Administrator (Director of Development Services). 

 Repair of existing docks is allowed. Repair is defined as replacement of decking or decking 
substructure and less than 50% of pilings. 

CHAPTER 6: ADMINISTRATION 

Chapter 6 deals with the plan administration, permit process, permit requirements, when exemptions are 
allowed, time requirements, and non-conforming development. This is the “process” section of the SMP. 

THE SCIENCE 
There is no particular science which pertains to Master Program administration 

THE GUIDELINES 
As with much of the rest of the document, the State largely predetermines how shoreline permits are processed. 
There are three types of shoreline permits (1) substantial development permits for allowed uses (2) conditional 
use permits for uses permitted conditionally and (3) variances to deviate from the requirements of the Master 
Program. State Guidelines discuss how each of these permits is to be processed. 

KEY POLICIES AND REGULATIONS 
Staff have identified two key issues in this chapter for Planning Commission discussion. 

Plan Administration: Planning Commission role 
The City’s existing Shoreline Master Program requires that all substantial development permits, conditional use 
permits, and variances be reviewed by the Planning Commission with final decision authority given to City 
Council. However, it should be noted that conditional use permits and variances must also receive Department 
of Ecology approval. 

62



 Page 4 

As part of the permit reform that occurred in 2002, the City consolidated the review of site-specific and quasi-
judicial land use permits under City staff and the hearing examiner. The reforms undertaken at that time did not 
address the review of site-specific shoreline permits. The SMP update project affords the City the opportunity to 
further consolidate site specific reviews under City staff and the hearing examiner, while reinforcing Planning 
Commission’s role as a policy advisory committee. Thus, the Draft SMP proposes that shoreline permits 
(shoreline substantial development permits and conditional use permits) undergo a type II process with review 
by staff. The Shoreline Administrator (Director) could refer either of these permit types to the Hearing Examiner 
based on the project’s significance. All shoreline variances would be Type III actions reviewed by the Hearing’s 
Examiner. The consolidation of site-specific shoreline permits under staff and the hearing examiner is consistent 
with review procedures in other jurisdictions. 

Non-conforming development 
The second key issue in Chapter 6 is non-conforming development. Once the Draft Shoreline Master Program 
is adopted, much existing development in Oak Harbor will not meet the new standards outlined in the plan and 
will be considered non-conforming. The non-conforming status is the natural outcome of implementing new 
state shoreline regulations.  

If modifications/additions are proposed by owners of non-conforming development, should they be required to 
conform to the new Shoreline Master Program? At what point will their modifications/additions to their property 
require that they meet the new standards? Staff realizes that the application of a non-conforming status to 
existing properties is a cause for concern with property owners. However, the non-conforming status, by no 
means signifies that property owners cannot make modifications/additions to their properties. 

It is important to understand the difference between non-conforming structures and non-conforming uses. Non-
conforming structures are uses which are allowed in the underlying zone, but which may be non-conforming 
with respect to setbacks, buffers, or height, or other standards. For instance, a house in the residential 
environment designation which is too close to the OHWM is a non-conforming structure because the structure is 
too close to the water’s edge, but it is not a non-conforming use because residential uses are allowed in that 
zone. The following provisions apply to non-conforming structures and uses: 

 The Draft SMP allows non-conforming structures to be maintained, repaired, enlarged, or expanded 
provided they do not increase the extent of nonconformity. 

 Non-conforming uses can continue and may expand once an additional 50 percent of the existing floor 
area. 

 Non-conforming structures which are moved horizontally on a site, must be brought into conformance 
with the SMP. 

 Non-conforming structures which are intentionally modified and the cost exceeds 60% of the fair market 
value, must be brought into conformance with the SMP. 

 Non-residential uses which are not damaged more than 75% of the assessed value, may rebuild to 
their original extent. Single-family residential uses which are damaged up to 100% of the assessed 
value may rebuild to their original extent. 

CHAPTER 7: DEFINITIONS 

Chapter 7 is the definitions section for the SMP document. Staff has not identified particular issues which are 
noteworthy for Planning Commission discussion in this chapter. We are, of course, happy to assist with any 
questions the Commission may have regarding these definitions. 

63



Frequently Asked Questions 
 

Publication Number:  10-06-003                                                   1                                                         02/05/10 (REV 2/11/10) 

 

Shorelands and Environmental Assistance Program February 2010 
 
 
 

Marine Shoreline Armoring 
and Puget Sound 

WHY IT MATTERS 
 
More than 700 miles of Puget 
Sound’s shoreline is armored – 
with approximately four miles 
added every two years. 
 
Armoring can protect upland 
sites from short-term erosion, 
but can harm shoreline habitat 
and dramatically change 
beaches. Each change may be 
small, but the combined effect 
adds up.  
 
What is shoreline armoring? 

Shoreline armoring is the 
construction of bulkheads, 
seawalls, riprap or any other 
structure used to harden a 
shoreline against erosion. 
 
Contact information 

Curt Hart          
Communications Manager 
Shorelands and Environmental 
Assistance Program 
360-407-6990 
curt.Hart@ecy.wa.gov 
Shoreline Master Programs: 
www.ecy.wa.gov/SEA/SMP  
 
Special accommodations 

To ask about the availability of 
this document in a version for 
the visually impaired, call the 
Shorelands and Environmental 
Assistance Program at 360-
407-7291. 
 
Persons with hearing loss, call 
711 for Washington Relay 
Service. Persons with a speech 
disability, call 877-833-6341. 

 
Overview 

Shorelines are the unique area where our land and marine 
ecosystems meet.  Everything passing to or from these two 
worlds goes through our shorelines including water, plants and 
woody debris, dirt, rocks and soil, chemical pollutants, and 
people.  
 
More than 25 percent of Puget Sound’s 2,500 miles of 
shorelines are already armored to protect public and private 
property, ports and marinas, roads and railways, and other uses.  
However, there is broad scientific consensus that bulkheads and 
other armoring alter our marine ecosystems and associated 
habitats for diverse plant and animal species. 
 
In the past, shoreline erosion was seen as a “problem” and 
armoring the method to control it.  We now know “erosion” is 
really Puget Sound’s way of replenishing and maintaining our 
beaches.  
 
Since the Shoreline Management Act was passed by voters in 
1972, we have learned to develop our shorelines in less harmful 
ways – but we still have a long way to go.  More than 4.4 
million people live in the 12 counties bordering Puget Sound.  
As the region continues to grow, the pressure to armor 
shorelines will grow, too.  
 
We need to find ways to manage growth and protect and 
preserve the environmental health of Puget Sound.  Restoring 
and safekeeping our shorelines is a high priority for the 
Washington Department of Ecology (Ecology) and Puget Sound 
Partnership.  The Partnership was formed to specifically develop 
and oversee an Action Agenda to help restore, protect and 
preserve the Sound by 2020, based on broad community and 
scientific input. 
 

64

mailto:Curt.Hart@ecy.wa.gov
http://www.ecy.wa.gov/SEA/SMP


 

Publication Number:  10-06-003 2 Please reuse and recycle 

 

Shorelands and Environmental Assistance Program February 2010 
 
 
 

Q: Why are shorelines important? 

A: Shorelines define our sense of place in the Puget Sound region.  While most of us may not live 
on a shoreline, it is where we harvest clams, take a dip on a hot August day, and ship our goods to 
the world.  
 
The unique and precious qualities of Puget Sound – the nation’s second largest marine estuary – 
make it a special place to live and work.  Puget Sound shorelines help drive the Northwest’s 
economy through its industrial, maritime, rail, fishing shellfish industries, boating and other 
recreational opportunities, scenic beauty and vibrant tourism.  For example: 
 

• There are 68 state parks and eight national parks, forests, wildlife refuges, and other 
recreational areas that border Puget Sound.  These areas help attract 390,000 people to 
Puget Sound waters and beaches at least once a year.  

 
• The combined value of recreational and commercial shellfish harvesting, crabbing, and 

fishing in Puget Sound is estimated to be $150 million.  Healthy Puget Sound shorelines 
help make Washington State the national leader in farmed shellfish production. 

 
• Together, the ports of Seattle and Tacoma make Puget Sound the second largest U.S. 

harbor for container traffic.  Water-based activities at the Port of Seattle support 34,000 
jobs and generate $2.1 billion annual income. 

 
For more information on the importance of Puget Sound shorelines: 
 
Department of Ecology: www.ecy.wa.gov/puget_sound/index.html 
Puget Sound economic facts: http://www.ecy.wa.gov/pubs/0601006.pdf 
Puget Sound Partnership Action Agenda: http://psp.wa.gov/aa_action_agenda.php 
2009 State of the Sound Report: http://www.psp.wa.gov/sos2009.php 
 
 
Q: What is shoreline armoring? 

A: Shoreline armoring is the construction of bulkheads, 
seawalls, riprap “revetments” such as sandbags or 
cement, and any other structure to harden a shoreline 
against erosion. 
 
 
 

 Bulkheads can be made from many different types 
of materials. Left, a concrete bulkhead.  

65

http://www.ecy.wa.gov/pubs/0601006.pdf
http://psp.wa.gov/aa_action_agenda.php
http://www.psp.wa.gov/sos2009.php


 

Publication Number:  10-06-003 3 Please reuse and recycle 

Shorelands and Environmental Assistance Program February 2010 

 
 
 
 

Q: How much of Puget Sound’s 2,500 miles of shoreline are currently 
armored? 

A: Scientists estimate about 700 miles of Puget Sound shorelines are armored.  More than four 
miles of new bulkheads were added between 2005 and 2007 alone.  The amount varies depending 
on the location, type of shoreline, and level of development.  There are more armored shorelines 
in urban than rural areas.  For example, more than 90 percent of the shoreline between Everett 
and Tacoma is armored while only five percent of the shorelines in San Juan County are armored. 
 
Q: What are the problems with armoring shorelines? 

A: The broad scientific consensus is that armoring alters marine ecosystems and associated 
habitats, plants and animals – negatively impacting the important environment functions of our 
shorelines.  Armoring isolates the land from the water, disturbs natural processes that replenish 
our shorelines including the movement of sediment and water, and disrupts the food web.  
 
More than 4.4 million people live in the Puget Sound region.  By 2040, more than a million more 
will call the region home.  As our population grows, so does the pressure to modify Puget Sound 
shorelines.   
 
By armoring our areas where upland and marine vegetation meet, the negative impacts can be 
extensive.  Bulkheads can:   
 

• Reduce the natural delivery of sand and gravel to our shorelines.  This causes the beaches 
in front of bulkheads to erode slowly, leading to gradual lowering or even disappearance of 
the beach.  This also can have negative impacts by depleting adjacent beaches of sediment, 
further degrading the shoreline environment. 

 
• Bury the upper beach and reduce the amount of large woody debris deposited on the beach, 

which results in habitat loss. 
 

• Isolate once interconnected land and aquatic habitats, resulting in habitat loss and altering 
the abundance and density of associated invertebrates, a major food source for fish, birds 
and other wildlife species.  

 
Building bulkheads is often accompanied by development which may result in the loss of riparian 
vegetation, increased use of pesticides and fertilizers, and placement of impervious surfaces, 
septic systems, and drain fields close to shorelines. 
 
The Puget Sound Nearshore Ecosystem Restoration Project has conducted a number of scientific 
studies about shoreline armoring.  For more information, go to: 
http://www.pugetsoundnearshore.org 

66

http://www.pugetsoundnearshore.org/


 

Publication Number:  10-06-003 4 Please reuse and recycle 

Shorelands and Environmental Assistance Program February 2010 

 
 
 
 

Q: What state laws govern shoreline armoring in Puget Sound? 

A: The Shoreline Management Act and the state Hydraulics Code are the two main state laws 
governing shoreline armoring.  
 
The state Shoreline Management Act, through the related policies and regulations of each local 
shoreline master program (see next question), governs if and where armoring can be used to 
protect development or provide private access.  The location and design of a bulkhead must 
conform to local and state shoreline regulations.  A local permit may be required for bulkheads 
and other armoring, depending on site specific conditions. 
 
The state Hydraulics Code is administered by the state Department of Fish and Wildlife through 
Hydraulic Project Approvals (HPA).  An HPA regulates when and where armoring can be used so 
critical fish and shellfish habitats are protected. 
 
Other laws, rules and court cases may also apply to shoreline armoring. For more information: 
 
Contact your local town, city or county planning department. 
 
Shoreline stabilization: http://www.ecy.wa.gov/programs/sea/sma/laws_rules/173-
26/231_modifications.html  
 
Laws, rules, and court cases related to the Shoreline Management Act: 
http://www.ecy.wa.gov/programs/sea/sma/laws_rules/index.html  
 
Permits and enforcement under the Shoreline Management Act: 
http://www.ecy.wa.gov/programs/sea/sma/st_guide/administration/index.html  
 
 
Q: What local regulations govern armoring in Puget Sound? 

A: State law requires local governments to have shoreline master programs that govern 
bulkheads and other shoreline activities.  These programs are a mix of policies and regulations 
tailored to specific needs of the local community.  While local shoreline regulations must be 
consistent with the minimum requirements of state law, towns, cities and counties may go further 
in restricting shoreline armoring. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

67

http://www.ecy.wa.gov/programs/sea/sma/laws_rules/173-26/231_modifications.html
http://www.ecy.wa.gov/programs/sea/sma/laws_rules/173-26/231_modifications.html
http://www.ecy.wa.gov/programs/sea/sma/laws_rules/index.html
http://www.ecy.wa.gov/programs/sea/sma/st_guide/administration/index.html


 

Publication Number:  10-06-003 5 Please reuse and recycle 

Shorelands and Environmental Assistance Program February 2010 

 
 
 
Loc

al policies and regulations affecting armoring and other shoreline activities are being updated 
throughout Puget Sound.  Revised shoreline master programs will be adopted jointly by each 
local government and the Washington Department of Ecology to ensure that local shoreline 
master programs are based on modern scientific understanding of common problems with 
piecemeal shoreline development, including those associated with armoring. 
 
The public is strongly encouraged to participate in helping shape their local shoreline program.  
Contact your city or county planning office to get involved.   
 
For more information on local regulations: 
 
City or county planning offices: see your local phone book or city/county website.  
 
Shoreline master program update schedule: 
http://www.ecy.wa.gov/programs/sea/sma/laws_rules/90-58/schedule.html  
 
Public participation in the shoreline master program: 
http://www.ecy.wa.gov/programs/sea/sma/st_guide/SMP/docs/Chapter6_SMPHandbook.pdf   
 
Permits and enforcement under the Shoreline Management Act: 
http://www.ecy.wa.gov/programs/sea/sma/st_guide/administration/index.html  
 
 

Q: What if “erosion” causes my existing bulkhead or armoring to fail?  Will I 
be able to replace it? 

A: Begin by talking to a representative in your local city or county planning office.  Each 
circumstance will be unique and depends on an array of different factors such as: 
 

• Why the armoring failed. 
• If a house or other primary structure is at risk. 
• Local laws and regulations. 
• Whether salmon or other wildlife habitat would be affected. 
• Armoring design. 

 
Many buildings along Puget Sound have not been set back far enough from the shoreline to allow 
for the natural rate of erosion.  Armoring was installed in an attempt to slow erosion and/or to 
create filled areas for desired shoreline uses.  Erosion was typically seen as a “problem” to be 
solved.  We now know that naturally eroding bluffs supply sand and other materials needed to 
replenish and nourish beaches.  Placing armoring structures on bluff-backed beaches can block 
this supply and may not be the best long-term solution for protecting property. 

68

http://www.ecy.wa.gov/programs/sea/sma/laws_rules/90-58/schedule.html
http://www.ecy.wa.gov/programs/sea/sma/st_guide/SMP/docs/Chapter6_SMPHandbook.pdf
http://www.ecy.wa.gov/programs/sea/sma/st_guide/administration/index.html


 

Publication Number:  10-06-003 6 Please reuse and recycle 

Shorelands and Environmental Assistance Program February 2010 

 
 
 
 

Q: Is shoreline armoring at odds with the state’s requirement to achieve “no 
net loss of ecological functions?” 

A: State laws and rules specify that shoreline modifications such as dikes, breakwaters, dredging, 
filling, clearing and grading, and vegetation removal should be allowed only in those limited 
instances when shoreline preferred uses require protection.  New shoreline modifications 
“individually and cumulatively” should not result in a net loss of ecological functions.  Towns, 
cities and counties have flexibility in how they achieve “no net loss” through their shoreline 
regulations. They can require that the impacts of armoring be avoided all-together, or mitigated 
through actions such as restoration.  
 
Q: How does shoreline armoring affect shellfish? 

A: Armoring affects shellfish in several ways. Historically, armoring has been built directly in 
shellfish habitat which has destroyed many shellfish growing areas and critical habitat such as 
eelgrass beds. When armoring is built or removed, dirt may be suspended in the water which can 
interfere with clams and other bivalves’ ability to feed.  Armoring can also change the flow of 
natural currents, keeping shellfish larvae from reaching growing areas. 
 
For more information: 
 
“Native Shellfish in Nearshore Ecosystems of Washington State” – Puget Sound Nearshore 
Ecosystem Restoration Project, Technical Report 2006-04 
http://www.pugetsoundnearshore.org/technical_reports.htm  
 
Q: How does shoreline armoring affect forage fish such as herring, smelt and 
sand lance?  

A: If armoring is placed directly over, in front of or behind a spawning area, it can prevent fish 
from using the upper beach, an important spawning area for surf smelt and sand lance. The 
armoring changes the beach to coarser sediment due to increased wave action.  Armoring can also 
dramatically increase the sediment temperature while decreasing the amount of decaying 
vegetation on the upper beach.  One study found that temperature changes alone cut the survival 
rate of surf smelt embryos in half.  
 
For more information: 
 
“Marine Forage Fishes in Puget Sound” – Puget Sound Nearshore Ecosystem Restoration Project, 
Technical Report 2007-03 http://www.pugetsoundnearshore.org/technical_reports.htm  
 
 
 

69

http://www.pugetsoundnearshore.org/technical_reports.htm
http://www.pugetsoundnearshore.org/technical_reports.htm


 

Publication Number:  10-06-003 7 Please reuse and recycle 

Shorelands and Environmental Assistance Program February 2010 

 
 
 
 

Q: Are bulkheads and other shoreline armoring really a problem for salmon? 

A: Yes. Endangered Chinook salmon and other salmon species rely on Puget Sound shorelines for 
food and shelter.  Young salmon spend time in Puget Sound before entering the Pacific Ocean.  
They need clean, abundant insects and other food, and shelter from predators.  Plants that 
overhang the shoreline are an important source of insects and shelter.  These plants are often 
removed when a shoreline is armored. 
 
For more information: 
 
Puget Sound Shorelines 
http://www.ecy.wa.gov/programs/sea/pugetsound/species/salmon.html   
 
 
Q: My bulkhead is only 100 feet long – does that really affect Puget Sound? 

A:  Puget Sound is an ecosystem in trouble.  Some have likened the challenges facing the Sound 
as “death by a thousand cuts.”  Considering more than 25 percent of Puget Sound shorelines are 
already armored and every year another new mile of bulkheads is built along our shorelines, the 
cumulative, negative environmental effects on water quality, critical fish and wildlife habitat, and 
our shorelines has been dramatic.  While one small bulkhead may not seem like much, hundreds 
of miles of uninterrupted stretches of armored shoreline consisting entirely of end-to-end small 
bulkheads have a major impact.  
 
The Puget Sound Nearshore Ecosystem Restoration Project has conducted a number of scientific 
studies about shoreline armoring.  For more information, go to: 
http://www.pugetsoundnearshore.org 
 
  
Q: Are there alternatives to armoring?  Where can I go for assistance? 

A: In many cases, shoreline properties can be developed without the need for a seawall or 
bulkhead.  Setting structures further back from the water’s edge and managing vegetation and site 
drainage can greatly reduce the risk of future problems.  Stairs and beach access can be designed 
to minimize shoreline intrusion and associated problems.  Alternatives to armoring may provide 
protection without as many adverse effects.  Options include using large wood or gravel berms to 
provide wave protection, and using vegetation and improved drainage to stabilize slopes.   
 
For more information: 
 
Talk with your local government planning office to learn about local requirements and 
alternatives to armoring your shoreline. 

70

http://www.ecy.wa.gov/programs/sea/pugetsound/species/salmon.html
http://www.pugetsoundnearshore.org/


 

Publication Number:  10-06-003 8 Please reuse and recycle 

Shorelands and Environmental Assistance Program February 2010 

 
 
 
 

 
“Alternative Bank Protection Methods for Puget Sound Shorelines” 
http://www.ecy.wa.gov/biblio/0006012a.html 
 
“Green Shorelines: Bulkhead Alternatives for a healthier Lake Washington” – City of Seattle. 
Contact: Dave LaClergue, 206-733-9668, dave.laclergue@seattle.gov 
http://www.seattle.gov/dpd/Planning/Green_Shorelines/Overview/  
 
Puget Sound Shorelines http://www.ecy.wa.gov/programs/sea/pugetsound/index.html  
 
Technical studies and information on restoring nearshore ecosystems in Puget Sound. 
http://www.pugetsoundnearshore.org/ 
 

Q: I hear that the sea level may rise in the coming decades.  Where can I learn 
more? 

A:  A significant consequence of global climate change is rising sea levels.  How sea level rise 
will affect specific stretches of our marine and coastal shorelines is difficult to predict.  However, 
we know it will have a profound impact on coastal shoreline ecosystems and associated 
development. 
 
For more information: 
 
The Response of the Salish Sea to Rising Sea Level: A Geomorphic Perspective – Presentation at 
the Puget Sound Georgia Basin Research Conference, February 11, 2009 by Hugh Shipman, 
Coastal Geologist, Washington Department of Ecology. 
http://depts.washington.edu/uwconf/psgb/proceedings/papers/6a_shipm.pdf  
 
“Beaches and Bluffs of Puget Sound and Northern Straits” (pages 17-19) – Puget Sound 
Nearshore Ecosystem Restoration Project, Technical Report 2007-04 
http://www.pugetsoundnearshore.org/technical_papers/beaches_bluffs.pdf   
 
“Sea Level Rise in the Coastal Waters of Washington State” – A technical report produced by 
University of Washington Climate Impacts Group and the Washington Department of Ecology, 
January 2008 http://cses.washington.edu/db/pdf/moteetalslr579.pdf     
 
Climate Change – Washington Department of Ecology 
http://www.ecy.wa.gov/climatechange/index.htm  
 
 
Photos taken by Hugh Shipman, Washington Department of Ecology 

71

http://www.ecy.wa.gov/biblio/0006012a.html
mailto:dave.laclergue@seattle.gov
http://www.seattle.gov/dpd/Planning/Green_Shorelines/Overview/
http://www.ecy.wa.gov/programs/sea/pugetsound/index.html
http://www.pugetsoundnearshore.org/
http://depts.washington.edu/uwconf/psgb/proceedings/papers/6a_shipm.pdf
http://www.pugetsoundnearshore.org/technical_papers/beaches_bluffs.pdf
http://cses.washington.edu/db/pdf/moteetalslr579.pdf
http://www.ecy.wa.gov/climatechange/index.htm


2012 Comprehensive Plan  

Amendment Discussion 

Land Use Change 

 

Public Meeting 

 

This item has been rescheduled for 

the September 25, 2012  

regular business meeting 

72


	AGENDA
	July 24, 2012 Draft Minutes
	August 14, 2012 Draft Minutes
	Fairway Point PRD Modification– To Consider ADU's within Division 4
	Shoreline Master Program Update – Chapters 5, 6, 7 Review



